LAND TENURE:
EARLY OWNERSHIP AND LAND USE Native American OccuDancv -

The Siwanhoy Indians, a band of the~Munsee-speaking groups of the Lenape Indians~ occupied nu~erous villages in the territory along the northern shores of the Sound, from the area of Heilgate to the southwestern portion of Connecticut.2 Although there has been little study of this group1 several references, both primary and secondary, have connected the Siwanoys to the vicinity of Peiham Bay Park.  This land was once Indian hunting and fishing grounds.  During the past two centuries, numerous Indian artifacts from several periods (both prehistoric and after contact with Europeans) have been found in this area, an area which has long been associated with legendary and historical accounts connecting it to these early Sound-shore inhabitants.3 As early as l848,~in the first edition of his important work, The Historv of the County of Westchester from its First Settlement to the Present Time, Robert Bolton, Jr., noted that the northeast side of Pelham Neck - an area of Peiham Bay Park over time called Ann Hook's Neck, Rodman's Neck, and Pell's Point

- was the location of significant Indian burying-grounds.  'I... In fact, the whole of the Neck appears to have been used by the Indians for the purposes of sepulture: in proof of this their remains have been found in almost every part of it."4
The Pell Family and the Manor of Pelham
Numerous local and family accounts have related the early history of the Pells of the Manor of Pelham, particularly those of the seventeenth century (~ig. 4).  In 1654 Thomas Pell (1603-1669), an Englishman residing in Fairfield, the Colony of Connecticut, purchased from Wampage (alias "Ann-hook"), Maninepoe and four other local Indian chieftains some 200,000 acres.  This would have included a substantial area along the Long Island Sound in what is now the Bronx and Southern Westchester County.  The sale -- -is recorded in a copy of the original treaty.5 The site of the sale is commemorated by an iron enclosure that was erected around the so-called Treaty Oak in 1903 on the grounds of the Bartow-Pell Mans ion.6
The exact boundaries of this large tract included in the sale -have~not been determined, but it is believed to have comprised the Pelhams (the Town and Manor), New Rochelle, and the old Towns of Westchester and Eastchester, as well as the nearby islands of~ the Sound.  These lands were readily accessible by land and by sea from the English territories along the Connecticut coast. Historians have viewed Pell's purchase as a means by which the English promoted their interests over those of the Dutch, for it encompassed land that the Indians had already sold to the Dutch West India Company in 1640 and was approved by the General Assembly of the Colony of Connecticut.7
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In 1666, two years after England's seizure of New Netherlands1 a large portion of Pell's original claim was confirmed by a royal patent from New York Governor Richard Nicolls on behalf of the Lord Proprietor of the Province of~New York, James, Duke of York (and the brother of King Charles II.)8  Nicolls authorized the establishment of "an enfranchised township, manor and place" with the same privileges "as of the manor of East Greenwich, in the country of Kent, in free and common socage and by fealty only..."9  (The text of Pell's patent is included in the Appendix.)  The Bartow-Pell Mansion Expanded Landmark Site is contained within the original boundaries of the Manor of Pelham.

Although Thomas Pell remained a resident of Fairfield, the inventory of his estate included a house and land in Westchester and other property near the Hutchinson River.10  In fact, in this document he was designated Thomas Pell of the aforementioned Ann Hook's Neck.  Although it has never been confirmed, Bolton, in his History of the Countv of Westchester (1848), notes that a residence of Thomas Pell stood on Rodman's or Pelham Neck formerly known as Ann Hook's Neck, on the site of the dweiling house of Samuel Bowne.11 Pell's wife having predeceased him and evidently childless, he bequeathed his estate to his nephew, Sir John Pell of London.12
As sole heir of his uncle's estate,~ Sir John Pell (1643-1702?), arrived in Connecticut in 1670 to claim his inheritance.  About 1675 he married Rachel Pinckney, the daughter of one of the original Ten Proprietors of Eastchester, each of who~ had been granted their land from Thomas Pell.  Soon after their marriage, it is believed that John Pell erected his primary residence in the Manor of Pelham.  In 1687 Thomas Dongan, the governor of the province of New York and representative of King James II, issued "a more full and firme grant and confirmation", thereby establishing the lordship and manor of Pelham with "full power and authority at all times hereafter ... one court leete and one court barron, to hold and to keep...."  (See appendix for text of this royal patent.)  Therefore, it would seem to have been this second royal patent that authorized the use of the title of lord and permitted the manor of Pelham to operate judicially as a manor, that is,. with the holding of a manorial court.1~  In 1688, a year after receiving the royal grant, John Pell was appointed the first judge of the Court of Common Pleas of Westchester County in the territory of New England, holding that office until

.1693.
Because of his eventful sale of a large tract of land to the Huguenots in 1789 (for the establishment of New Rochelle) the Manor of Pelham was reduced to approximately 3,066 acres.

Bolton remains one of our only sources~for the possible~location of John Pell's manor house; he noted that it "was pulled down many years since," and "stood south-west of the present (Bartow] residence."  Thus, the old manor house is believed to have stood
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closer to the shore near the site of the Bartow-Pell Mansion and within the boundaries of the Expanded Landmark Site.  A map of of 1708 which shows land in Eastchester granted to a William Peartree and associates by Queen Anne includes the area of Peiham Manor, New Rochelle, Eastchester; a mark which would seem to connote the general location of the Pell Manor house is roughly in this vicinity.14  According to Lockwood Barr, in his 1946 study of the Ancient Town of Pelhain, the manor house of John Pell was probably destroyed during the Revolutionary War.

John Pell is said to have drowned in the Long Island Sound near City Island about 1702.15  Dying intestate, his eldest surviving son Thomas inherited the title of Lord of the Manor.  In 1702 Thomas Pell II (1675?-1739?) married Anna (also known by the Dutch name Aeltie Beeke), who is believed to be the daughter of a local Indian chief.

Pell family literature states that Thomas Pell, the Third Lord, divided his estate among all of his children, thereby abolishing. the system of primogeniture, whereby the estate would have passed solely to the eldest son.16  This would have taken place prior to his death, for in his will of 1739 Thomas bequeathed to Joseph (1722-1752), the eldest of his eleven children, I'... all and singular his land, meadows, houses, tenements, buildings and so forth, which then belonged unto him."17  Therefore, it would seem that Joseph became the Fourth L~rd of the Manor of Pelham. This Joseph, along with his wife phoebe (1720-1790), is buried in the small Pelt family burying ground located on the site. However, Barr believed that Joseph Pell predeceased his father, so that he did not inherit the title of Lord, and it passed instead to his son Joseph II.  Several unanswered questions still remain regarding the succession of Lord and land title in the Manor of Pelham in the eighteenth century and more extensive research in the deeds and church and family records is needed.

In any case, the part of the manor which contained the family dwelling remained in the family of Joseph Pell I.  Eventually Thomas Pell, the third son of Joseph and Phoebe, took title to the family homestead.  The first census of the United States, taken in the year 1790, lists five Pells as heads of families in the Town of Peiham: David, James, John, Philip and Thomas. Thomas, the latter, is listed as living with one white male under the age of sixteen, three white females, and three slaves.  It is likely that he would be Thomas, the son of Joseph Pell.

In the early 17905 Thomas Pell, a farmer, along with his wife conveyed 232 acres in Pelham to John Bartow, Jr.18  The son of Theophilus Bartow of Westchester and Bathsheba Pell (the youngest sister of Joseph Pell I), John Bartow in 1771 had married his second wife, his cousin Anne Pell, who was the sister of Thomas Pell.  Bartow and Pell geneaologies note that Thomas was married to his cousin Margaret, who was also John Bartow's sister.  (This
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would have made Pell and Bartow not only cousins, but double brothers-in-law!)  However,~according to the actual deeds of title, Thomas Pell's wife was Phebe Pell.  These factual inconsistences still need to be ironed out.19  Bartow family tradition states that Thomas and Margaret, having lost their children, wanted the old homestead to stay within the family and sold it to John and Ann.20  In any case, the property appears to have~remained in the family of Joseph Pell, since Ann was the daughter of Joseph and Phoebe Pell.

The Bartows of Westchester:
1702-1816
As Scharf noted back in 1886, the Bartows have "occupied a much respected position of influence and usefulness in the country during both the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries."21 The family was descended from General Bertaut, a Huguenot from Brittany, who fled to England before 1672 (figs. 5 and 6).  The first of the family to settle in this country was The Reverend John Bartow (1673-1725).  Soon after his arrival in 1702, he became the minister of the first Episcopal parish of Westchester county, which included Westchester, Eastchester, Yonkers, as well as the Manor 6f Peiham.  He was also ~the founder and first rector of St. Peter's Church in the village of Westchester, which is now located in Westchester Square in the Bronx.

In 1705 Rev. Bartow married Helen Re~id, the sister of the Governor of New Jersey; they resided at the family homestead in the town of Westchester.  Among their descendants, who included lawyers, ministers, farmers, and businessmen, were some of the most "valued citizens of Westchester County."22  The Bartows remained closely associated with the development of the Episcopal church in Westchester 'County and elsewhere in the country.  In Westchester County a grandson of the Rev. John Bartow, Theodosius (1747-1819), was the first rector of Trinity Church, New Rochelle, serving from 1790 to 1819.  He was also the brother of John Bartow, Jr.

The census of 1790 lists six Bartow heads of households residing in the Town of Westchester, the location of the original family homestead.  Included are the families of Anthony, Theophilus, William, Punderson, John Bartow Jr., and his son Augustus, who was the father of Robert Bartow.

John Bartow, Jr. (1740-1816), who purchased the Pelham property in two pieces (in 1790 and 1792), could very likely have been t~e same John Bartow who, from 1766 to 1790, owned a large mill in Eastchester that was known as Bartow's and, later, Reid's Mill.23 Described as a farmer in deeds of 1792 and 1813, he subsequently retired to a Manhattan residence.  He was the first cousin of the wife of Aaron Burr.  According to Bartow family histories, Bartow's home at Pelham was "the center of attraction in the society of the county."  Here Bartow is said to have "entertained
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